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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
FORT LAUDERDALE DIVISION
CASE NO:

RHONA NEMBHARD, and
all others similarly situated under
29 U.S.C. 216(b),

Plaintiff(s),

V.
TRUE BLUE HOME HEALTH CARE,
CORP. a Florida corporation, and

KARELINA REYES, individually,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff, RHONA NEMBHARD (“Plaintiff”), pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), files the
following Complaint against Defendants, TRUE BLUE HOME HEALTH CARE, CORP. (“TRUE
BLUE”) and KARELINA REYES (“REYES”), individually (collectively referred to hereinafter
as “Defendants”), on behalf of herself, and all others similarly situated, and alleges:

INTRODUCTION

1. Defendants have unlawfully deprived Plaintiff, and all other employees similarly situated,
of minimum wage and overtime compensation during the course of their employment. This
is an action arising under the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) pursuant to 29 U.S.C. 8§
201-216, to recover all wages owed to Plaintiff, and those similarly situated to Plaintiff,

during the course of their employment.
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PARTIES

2. During all times material hereto, Plaintiff was a resident of Broward County, Florida, over
the age of 18 years, and otherwise sui juris.

3. During all times material hereto, Defendant, TRUE BLUE, was a Florida corporation
located and transacting business within Broward County, Florida, within the jurisdiction
of this Honorable Court. TRUE BLUE operates its principal location at 600 SW 3' Street,
Suite 5100G in Pompano Beach, Florida 33060.

4. During all times material hereto, Defendant, REYES, was and a resident of the Southern
District of Florida, and was President and operator of the Defendant company within
Broward County, Florida.

5. During all times material hereto, Defendant, REYES, was over the age of 18 years, and
was vested with ultimate control and decision-making authority over the hiring, firing, pay
practices for Defendant, TRUE BLUE, during the relevant time period.

6. Defendant, TRUE BLUE was Plaintiff’s employer, as defined by 29 U.S.C. § 203(d),
during all times pertinent to the allegations herein.

7. Defendant, REYES, was also Plaintiff’s employer, as defined by 29 U.S.C. 8 203(d), during
all times pertinent to the allegations herein.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

8. All acts and omissions giving rise to this dispute took place within Broward County,
Florida.

9. Defendant, TRUE BLUE, is headquartered and regularly transacts business in Broward
County, Florida, and jurisdiction is therefore proper within the Southern District of Florida

pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1337.
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10. Venue is proper within the Southern District of Florida pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) and
28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

11. Defendant, TRUE BLUE, is a home health aide agency that has been operating in Broward
County, Florida, since 2012.
12. According to its own website, TRUE BLUE’s company vision is as follows:
The vision of True Blue is that one day every elder and special needs
person in Broward County, Florida receives nourishing home
healthcare services by having their basic needs met and that they

will know they are valuable and not forgotten.

See www.trubluehomehealth.com/what-we-do

13. Based upon the content of its website, Defendant, TRUE BLUE, advertises itself to the
South Florida community as a provider of healthcare services to elderly and disabled
individuals.

14. Defendant, TRUE BLUE, sends its employees to the private dwellings of elderly and
special needs individuals to offer home health medical services.

15. Some of the services offered by Defendant, TRUE BLUE, through its employees, are
bathing, dressing, hygiene, health monitoring, healthcare services, housekeeping, laundry
services, meal preparation, and companionship for elderly and/or sick individuals.

16. These activities constitute healthcare services under the Fair Labor Standards Act
(“FLSA™).

17. Defendant, TRUE BLUE, is covered under the FLSA through enterprise coverage, as
TRUE BLUE was engaged in interstate commerce during all pertinent times in which
Plaintiff was employed. More specifically, TRUE BLUE was engaged in operating an

institution that provided healthcare services and care for the sick and elderly, including,
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but not limited to: bathing, dressing, hygiene, health monitoring, housekeeping, and/or
companionship.  Accordingly, Defendant, TRUE BLUE, was engaged in interstate
commerce pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 203(s)(1)(B).

18. Furthermore, Defendant, TRUE BLUE, was also engaged in interstate commerce by virtue
of the fact that its business activities involved those to which the FLSA applies. Defendant,
TRUE BLUE’s business and Plaintiffs’ work TRUE BLUE affected interstate commerce
because the materials and goods that Plaintiff used on a constant and/or continuous basis
moved through interstate commerce prior to or subsequent to Plaintiff’s use of the same.

19. During her employment with Defendant, TRUE BLUE, Plaintiff, and all other similarly
situated employees, handled and worked with various goods and/or materials that have
moved through interstate commerce, including, but not limited to: cleaning supplies, food
items, cleaning equipment, linen materials, trash bags, hygiene products, and mobility
equipment.

20. Defendant, TRUE BLUE, also regularly employed two (2) or more employees for the
relevant time period, who handled goods or materials similar to those goods and materials
handled by Plaintiff, or used the instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or the mails, thus
making Defendant, TRUE BLUE’s business an enterprise covered by the FLSA.

21. Upon information and belief, Defendant, TRUE BLUE, grossed or did business in excess
of $500,000.00 during the years of 2015, 2016, and 2017.

22. During all material times hereto, Plaintiff, and all others similarly situated, was a non-
exempt employee of Defendant, TRUE BLUE, and Defendant, REYES, within the

meaning of the FLSA.
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23. Plaintiff began working as a non-exempt employee for Defendant, TRUE BLUE in July
2017.

24. Prior to beginning her employment with Defendant, TRUE BLUE, Plaintiff was required
to submit a job application in-person at the company headquarters located at 600 SW 3"
Street, Suite 5100G in Pompano Beach, Florida.

25. Defendant, REYES, reviewed Plaintiff’s job application and made the decision to hire
Plaintiff.

26. Defendant, REYES, was President of Defendant, TRUE BLUE, and controlled Plaintiff’s
work schedule, the company’s payroll practices, and was vested with ultimate hiring and
firing decisions for Defendant, TRUE BLUE.

27. After hiring Plaintiff as a non-exempt employee, Defendant, REYES, and Defendant,
TRUE BLUE, provided Plaintiff with a pair of medical scrubs that Plaintiff was required
to wear while on the job and performing services on behalf of TRUE BLUE.

28. Plaintiff, and similarly situated individuals, were employed by Defendant, TRUE BLUE,
as a home health aide and housekeeper and assisted individuals with bathing, toileting
assistance, dressing, hygiene, and performed housekeeping, laundry, and healthcare
services, prepared meals, and otherwise provided companionship to sick, elderly
individuals.

29. Defendant, REYES, on behalf of Defendant, TRUE BLUE, assigned Plaintiff to provide
home health aide services to J.L., an eighty-six (86) year old woman who resides in
Lauderdale-by-the-Sea, Florida. Throughout the course of Plaintiff’s employment,
Defendant, REYES, on behalf of Defendant, TRUE BLUE, maintained control over the

way in which Plaintiff offered her services, and provided instruction to Plaintiff.
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30. Plaintiff worked for Defendant, TRUE BLUE, from July 2017 until her unlawful
termination on September 14, 2017.

Plaintiff’s Initial Employment Period

31.On July 1, 2017, Plaintiff worked her first day with J.L. and was assigned to provide
services at J.L.’s residence in Lauderdale-by-the-Sea, Florida.

32. Plaintiff’s agreed regular hourly rate during this initial time period was $10.00 an hour.

33. During the first four shifts worked by Plaintiff, TRUE BLUE maintained and kept a record
of all of the hours that Plaintiff worked.

34.0n July 1, 2017, Plaintiff worked from 12:00 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. (8 hours) and was
compensated in the amount of $80.00.

35. On July 15, 2017, Plaintiff worked from 10:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. (10 hours) and was
compensated in the amount of $100.00.

36. On July 16, 2017, Plaintiff worked from 10:00 a.m. to 7:30 p.m. (9.5 hours) and was
compensated in the amount of $95.00.

37.0n July 17, 2017, Plaintiff worked from 9:30 a.m. to 7:30 p.m. (10 hours) and was
compensated in the amount of $100.00.

38. During the hours of each day that Plaintiff was not providing services for J.L., another
home health aide was assigned by Defendants, REYES, and TRUE BLUE, to provide
services for J.L.

Plaintiff Works Overtime

39. After providing exemplary service to J.L. during the initial employment period, Plaintiff

was contacted by Defendant, REYES, who instructed Plaintiff that she will need to start
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working full-days with J.L. (including all hours throughout the night), because Defendant,
REYES, and Defendant, TRUE BLUE, could find no other employee to work these shifts.

40. More specifically, Defendant, TRUE BLUE and Defendant, REYES, assigned Plaintiff to
work with J.L. from Thursdays beginning at 8:00 a.m. through Tuesdays at 8:00 a.m. with
no break whatsoever. Plaintiff was advised by Defendants that she would be expected to
work this entire period of time.

41. Plaintiff was further instructed by Defendants that she would spend all of her time at J.L.’s
residence and that this schedule would begin on Thursday, July 27, 2017,

42. From Thursday, July 27, 2017, at 8:00 a.m. through Tuesday, July 31, 2017, at 8:00 a.m.,
Plaintiff worked a total of one hundred twenty (120) hours.

43. However, from July 27, 2017, through July 31, 2017, Defendant, TRUE BLUE, only paid
Plaintiff $110.00 per day during this workweek for a total of $550.00.

44. Then, during the workweek of August 3, 2017, through August 6, 2017, Plaintiff worked
a total of ninety-six (96) hours.

45. However, during the workweek of August 3, 2017, through August 6, 2017, Defendant,
TRUE BLUE, only paid Plaintiff $120.00 per day during this workweek, for a total of
$480.00.

46. During the workweek of August 10, 2017, through August 14, 2017, Plaintiff worked a
total of one hundred twenty (120) hours.

47. However, during the workweek of August 10, 2017, through August 14, 2017, Defendant,
TRUE BLUE, only paid Plaintiff $120.00 per day, for a total of $600.00.

48. During the workweek of August 16, 2017, through August 20, 2017, Plaintiff worked a

total of one hundred twenty (120) hours.
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49. However, during the workweek of August 16, 2017, through August 20, 2017, Defendant,
TRUE BLUE, only paid Plaintiff $120.00 per day, for a total of $600.00.

50. During the workweek of August 24, 2017, through August 27, 2017, Plaintiff worked a
total of ninety-six (96) hours.

51. However, during the workweek of August 24, 2017, through August 27, 2017, Defendant,
TRUE BLUE, only paid Plaintiff $120.00 per day, for a total of $480.00.

52. Finally, from August 31, 2017, through September 3, 2017, Plaintiff worked a total of
ninety-six (96) hours.

53. During the workweek of August 31, 2017, through September 3, 2017, Defendant, TRUE
BLUE, only paid Plaintiff $120.00 per day, for a total of $480.00.

Plaintiff Exercises Her Right to Overtime

54. In August 2017, after being required to regularly work more than one hundred (100) hours
per week with no overtime pay whatsoever, Plaintiff approached Defendant, REYES, and
addressed the fact that the hours she was working far exceeded the amount permitted under
federal law, and that Plaintiff was entitled to be properly paid overtime compensation for
all of the hours she was working.

55. In response to Plaintiff’s assertion of her right to overtime pay, Defendant, REYES,
expressly rejected Plaintiff’s proper request, and specifically advised Plaintiff that she had
no such right and would not be paid any overtime whatsoever.

56. Plaintiff then advised Defendant, REYES, that she specifically knew about the overtime
laws because she had closely followed executive action taken by President Obama in

previous years concerning proposed changes to federal wage laws. In following these
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developments, Plaintiff learned about the various requirements under federal overtime
laws.

57. Notwithstanding Plaintiff’s correct recitation regarding the federal overtime requirements,
Defendant, REYES, once again rejected Plaintiff’s request.

58. Then, on September 14, 2017, Defendant, REYES sent the following text message to
Plaintiff immediately after Plaintiff arrived at J.L.’s’ residence to work:

You don’t need to go to June’s today.

59. Following Plaintiff’s attempt to lawfully exercise her right to overtime under the FLSA,
and upon Plaintiff’s receipt of this text message from Defendant, REYES, Plaintiff
attempted to work more shifts, but was terminated by Defendant, REYES, and Defendant,
TRUE BLUE, and was never given another shift from Defendant, TRUE BLUE, ever
again.

60. Defendant, REYES, refused to provide Plaintiff with any explanation for her termination.

61. Defendant, REYES, was the owner and President of Defendant, TRUE BLUE, during all
times pertinent to this lawsuit, and had final decision-making authority for Defendant,
TRUE BLUE, on issues of employment, termination, and payroll practices.

62. Defendant, REYES, knew that Plaintiff was working in excess of forty (40) hours per week,
scheduled Plaintiff to work well over forty (40) hours per week, refused to pay Plaintiff
any overtime whatsoever, incorrectly misled Plaintiff about overtime requirements, and
approved the unlawful treatment of Plaintiff during all material times of Plaintiff’s

employment.
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63. Defendant, REYES, was either recklessly indifferent as to the overtime requirements under
federal law, or, in the alternative, intentionally misled Plaintiff so that the Defendants could
avoid having to pay Plaintiff her lawful (and hard-earned) wages.

64. In the months that followed Plaintiff’s unlawful termination, Defendant, REYES, sent
multiple text messages to Plaintiff, in which she strongly cautioned Plaintiff against
pursuing any legal action.

COUNT | — FEDERAL MINIMUM WAGE LAW VIOLATIONS —29 U.S.C. § 203
(against All Defendants)

65. Plaintiff re-avers and re-alleges Paragraphs 1 through 64 above, as though fully set forth
herein.

66. Defendant, TRUE BLUE, is covered under the FLSA through enterprise coverage, as
TRUE BLUE was engaged in interstate commerce during all pertinent times in which
Plaintiff was employed. More specifically, TRUE BLUE was engaged in operating an
institution that provided healthcare services and care for the sick and elderly, including,
but not limited to: bathing, dressing, hygiene, health monitoring, housekeeping, and/or
companionship.  Accordingly, Defendant, TRUE BLUE, was engaged in interstate
commerce pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 203(s)(1)(B).

67. Furthermore, Defendant, TRUE BLUE, was also engaged in interstate commerce by virtue
of the fact that its business activities involved those to which the FLSA applies. Defendant,
TRUE BLUE’s business and Plaintiffs’ work TRUE BLUE affected interstate commerce
because the materials and goods that Plaintiff used on a constant and/or continuous basis
moved through interstate commerce prior to or subsequent to Plaintiff’s use of the same.

68. During her employment with Defendant, TRUE BLUE, Plaintiff, and all other similarly

situated employees, handled and worked with various goods and/or materials that have

10
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moved through interstate commerce, including, but not limited to: cleaning supplies, food
items, cleaning equipment, linen materials, trash bags, hygiene products, and mobility
equipment.

69. Defendant, TRUE BLUE, also regularly employed two (2) or more employees for the
relevant time period, who handled goods or materials similar to those goods and materials
handled by Plaintiff, or used the instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or the mails, thus
making Defendant, TRUE BLUE’s business an enterprise covered by the FLSA.

70. Upon information and belief, Defendant, TRUE BLUE, grossed or did business in excess
of $500,000.00 during the years of 2015, 2016, and 2017.

71. During all times pertinent to her employment, Defendants, TRUE BLUE, and REYES,
treated Plaintiff as a non-exempt, hourly employee under the FLSA, and were on notice of
the hours actually worked by Plaintiff.

72. Plaintiff was required to report directly to Defendant, REYES, who, as President of the
corporation, ran the day-to-day operations of Defendant, TRUE BLUE, and made the day-
to-day business decisions for Defendant, TRUE BLUE, including hiring, firing, payroll,
and scheduling decisions.

73. Plaintiff was also regularly assigned tasks by Defendant, REYES, which demonstrates that
Defendant, REYES, and Defendant, TRUE BLUE, maintained control and supervision
over Plaintiff’s day-to-day activities.

74. Defendant, REYES, was therefore Plaintiff’s FLSA employer during all times pertinent to
Plaintiff’s employment with Defendant, TRUE BLUE, and is individually liable under the

FLSA for any wage law violations committed.

11
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75. Plaintiff was employed by Defendant, TRUE BLUE, from July 1, 2017, through September
14, 2017.

76. From July 22, 2017, through July 24, 2017, Plaintiff worked a total of seventy-two (72)
hours for Defendants, but was only compensated a total of $330.00 during this work week.
Accordingly, Plaintiff was compensated at a rate of $4.58 per hour. Defendants violated
the FLSA by failing to pay Plaintiff at least the federal minimum wage of $7.25 per hour.
During this time period, Plaintiff is owed $2.92 per hour for every single hour of work she
performed. Plaintiff is owed $140.80 in unliquidated damages for this time period.
Defendants’ actions were intentional and/or willful and Plaintiff is therefore entitled to
liquidated damages for wages in the total amount of $281.60.

77. From July 27, 2017, through July 31, 2017, Plaintiff worked a total of one hundred twenty
(120) hours for Defendants, but was only compensated a total of $550.00 during this
workweek.  Accordingly, Plaintiff was compensated at a rate of $4.58 per hour.
Defendants violated the FLSA by failing to pay Plaintiff at least the federal minimum wage
of $7.25 per hour. During this time period, Plaintiff is owed $2.92 per hour for every single
hour of work she performed. Plaintiff is owed $140.80 in unliquidated damages for this
time period. Defendants’ actions were intentional and/or willful and Plaintiff is therefore
entitled to liquidated damages for wages in the total amount of $281.60.

78. From August 3, 2017, through August 6, 2017, Plaintiff worked a total of ninety-six (96)
hours for Defendants, but was only compensated a total of $480.00 during this workweek.
Accordingly, Plaintiff was compensated at a rate of $5.00 per hour. Defendants violated
the FLSA by failing to pay Plaintiff at least the federal minimum wage of $7.25 per hour.

During this time period, Plaintiff is owed $2.25 per hour for every single hour of work she

12
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performed. Plaintiff is owed $124.00 in unliquidated damages for this time period.
Defendants’ actions were intentional and/or willful and Plaintiff is therefore entitled to
liquidate damages for wages in the total amount of $248.00.

79. From August 10, 2017, through August 14, 2017, Plaintiff worked a total of one hundred
twenty (120) hours for Defendants, but was only compensated a total of $600.00 during
this workweek. Accordingly, Plaintiff was compensated at a rate of $5.00 per hour.
Defendants violated the FLSA by failing to pay Plaintiff at least the federal minimum wage
of $7.25 per hour. During this time period, Plaintiff is owed $2.25 per hour for every single
hour of work she performed. Plaintiff is owed $124.00 in unliquidated damages for this
time period. Defendants’ actions were intentional and/or willful and Plaintiff is therefore
entitled to liquidated damages for wages in the total amount of $248.00.

80. From August 16, 2017, through August 20, 2017, Plaintiff worked a total of one hundred
twenty (120) hours for Defendants, but was only compensated a total of $600.00 during
this workweek. Accordingly, Plaintiff was compensated at a rate of $5.00 per hour.
Defendants violated the FLSA by failing to pay Plaintiff at least the federal minimum wage
of $7.25 per hour. During this time period, Plaintiff is owed $2.25 per hour for every single
hour of work she performed. Plaintiff is owed $124.00 in unliquidated damages for this
time period. Defendants’ actions were intentional and/or willful and Plaintiff is therefore
entitled to liquidated damages for wages in the total amount of $248.00.

81. From August 24, 2017, through August 27, 2017, Plaintiff worked a total of ninety-six (96)
hours for Defendants, but was only compensated a total of $480.00 during this workweek.
Accordingly, Plaintiff was compensated at a rate of $5.00 per hour. Defendants violated

the FLSA by failing to pay Plaintiff at least the federal minimum wage of $7.25 per hour.

13



Case 0:18-cv-60076-BB Document 1 Entered on FLSD Docket 01/15/2018 Page 14 of 24

During this time period, Plaintiff is owed $2.25 per hour for every single hour of work she
performed. Plaintiff is owed $124.00 in unliquidated damages for this time period.
Defendants’ actions were intentional and/or willful and Plaintiff is therefore entitled to
liguidated damages for wages in the total amount of $248.00.

82. From August 31, 2017, through September 3, 2017, Plaintiff worked a total of ninety-six
(96) hours for Defendants, but was only compensated a total of $480.00 during this
workweek.  Accordingly, Plaintiff was compensated at a rate of $5.00 per hour.
Defendants violated the FLSA by failing to pay Plaintiff at least the federal minimum wage
of $7.25 per hour. During this time period, Plaintiff is owed $2.25 per hour for every single
hour of work she performed. Plaintiff is owed $124.00 in unliquidated damages for this
time period. Defendants’ actions were intentional and/or willful and Plaintiff is therefore
entitled to liquidated damages for wages in the total amount of $248.00.

83. During all times pertinent to Plaintiff’s employment, Defendants, TRUE BLUE, and
REYES failed to comply with the FLSA record-keeping requirements. More specifically,
Defendants failed to keep a proper record of all hours worked by Plaintiff during this time
period and otherwise failed to properly display FLSA posters in a prominent position of
their headquarters where such posters would be clearly visible to employees.

84. Defendants, TRUE BLUE, and REYES’ failure to comply with the FLSA record-keeping
requirements further demonstrates their willful conduct and warrants an award of
liquidated damages in this case.

85. In total, Plaintiff demands $1,803.20 for Defendants’ unlawful deprivation of minimum

wages during Plaintiff’s employment.

14
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86. Plaintiff has been required to retain the undersigned counsel and law firm and is therefore
entitled to recover her reasonable attorney fees and costs necessitated in the bringing of
this action.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, RHONA NEMBHARD, demands judgment against Defendants,
TRUE BLUE HOME HEALTH CARE CORP., and KARELINA REYES, and respectfully
requests that she be awarded the following relief: (a) liquidated damages in the amount of
$1,803.20 to be paid by the Defendants jointly and severally; (b) reasonable attorney’s fees and
costs to be paid by the Defendants jointly and severally; (c) a statutory fine assessed against
Defendants for their willful violation of the FLSA and its record-keeping requirements; and any
and all such further relief as may be deemed just and reasonable under the circumstances.

COUNT Il - FEDERAL OVERTIME WAGE VIOLATIONS —29 U.S.C. 8 207
(Against All Defendants)

87. Plaintiff hereby re-alleges and re-avers Paragraphs 1 through 64, as though set forth fully
herein.

88. Defendant, TRUE BLUE, is covered under the FLSA through enterprise coverage, as
TRUE BLUE was engaged in interstate commerce during all pertinent times in which
Plaintiff was employed. More specifically, TRUE BLUE was engaged in operating an
institution that provided healthcare services and care for the sick and elderly, including,
but not limited to: bathing, dressing, hygiene, health monitoring, housekeeping, and/or
companionship. Accordingly, Defendant, TRUE BLUE, was engaged in interstate
commerce pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 203(s)(1)(B).

89. Furthermore, Defendant, TRUE BLUE, was also engaged in interstate commerce by virtue
of the fact that its business activities involved those to which the FLSA applies. Defendant,

TRUE BLUE’s business and Plaintiffs’ work TRUE BLUE affected interstate commerce

15



Case 0:18-cv-60076-BB Document 1 Entered on FLSD Docket 01/15/2018 Page 16 of 24

because the materials and goods that Plaintiff used on a constant and/or continuous basis
moved through interstate commerce prior to or subsequent to Plaintiff’s use of the same.

90. During her employment with Defendant, TRUE BLUE, Plaintiff, and all other similarly
situated employees, handled and worked with various goods and/or materials that have
moved through interstate commerce, including, but not limited to: cleaning supplies, food
items, cleaning equipment, linen materials, trash bags, hygiene products, and mobility
equipment.

91. Defendant, TRUE BLUE, also regularly employed two (2) or more employees for the
relevant time period, who handled goods or materials similar to those goods and materials
handled by Plaintiff, or used the instrumentalities of interstate commerce, or the mails, thus
making Defendant, TRUE BLUE’s business an enterprise covered by the FLSA.

92. Upon information and belief, Defendant, TRUE BLUE, grossed or did business in excess
of $500,000.00 during the years of 2015, 2016, and 2017.

93. Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 207(a), “if an employer employs an employee for more than 40
hours in any work week, the employer must compensate the employee for hours in excess
of 40 at the rate of at least one and one-half times the employee’s regular rate...”

94. During all times pertinent to her employment, Defendants, TRUE BLUE, and REYES,
treated Plaintiff as a non-exempt, hourly employee under the FLSA, and were on notice of
the hours actually worked by Plaintiff.

95. Plaintiff was required to report directly to Defendant, REYES, who, as President of the
corporation, ran the day-to-day operations of Defendant, TRUE BLUE, and made the day-
to-day business decisions for Defendant, TRUE BLUE, including hiring, firing, payroll,

and scheduling decisions.
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96. Plaintiff was also regularly assigned tasks by Defendant, REYES, which demonstrates that
Defendant, REYES, and Defendant, TRUE BLUE, maintained control and supervision
over Plaintiff’s day-to-day activities.

97. Defendant, REYES, was therefore Plaintiff’s FLSA employer during all times pertinent to
Plaintiff’s employment with Defendant, TRUE BLUE, and is individually liable under the
FLSA for any wage law violations committed.

98. Plaintiff was employed by Defendant, TRUE BLUE, from July 1, 2017, through September
14, 2017.

99. During the eleven (11) weeks of her employment with Defendant, TRUE BLUE, Plaintiff
worked well over forty (40) hours per week on multiple occasions, but was never
compensated for any hours she worked in excess of forty (40) each week.

100. From July 22, 2017, through July 24, 2017, Plaintiff worked a total of seventy-two
(72) hours, but was only compensated a total of $330.00 during this work week.
Accordingly, Plaintiff was compensated at a rate of $4.58 per hour, including for every
hour worked over forty (40). During this time period, Plaintiff is owed $6.29 per hour for
every single hour of overtime work she performed. Plaintiff is owed $201.28 in
unliquidated damages for overtime this time period. Defendants willfully and/or
intentionally violated the FLSA. Plaintiff claims $402.56 in liquidated damages.

101. From July 27, 2017, through July 31, 2017, Plaintiff worked a total of one hundred
twenty (120) hours, but was only compensated a total of $550.00 during this workweek.
Accordingly, Plaintiff was compensated at a rate of $4.58 per hour, including for every
hour worked over forty (40). During this time period, Plaintiff is owed $6.29 per hour for

every single hour of overtime work she performed. Plaintiff is owed $504.00 in
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unliquidated damages for this time period. Defendants willfully and/or intentionally
violated the FLSA. Plaintiff is therefore entitled to liquidated damages in the amount of
$1,008.00.

102. From August 3, 2017, through August 6, 2017, Plaintiff worked a total of ninety-
six (96) hours, but was only compensated a total of $480.00 during this workweek.
Accordingly, Plaintiff was compensated at a rate of $5.00 per hour, including for every
hour worked over forty (40). During this time period, Plaintiff is owed $5.87 per hour for
every single hour of overtime work she performed. Plaintiff is owed $328.72 in
unliquidated damages for this time period. Defendants willfully and/or intentionally
violated the FLSA. Plaintiff claims $657.44 in liquidated damages.

103. From August 10, 2017, through August 14, 2017, Plaintiff worked a total of one
hundred twenty (120) hours, but was only compensated a total of $600.00 during this
workweek. Accordingly, Plaintiff was compensated at a rate of $5.00 per hour, including
for every hour worked over forty (40). During this time period, Plaintiff is owed $5.87 per
hour for every single hour of overtime work she performed. Plaintiff is owed $469.60 in
unliquidated damages for this time period. Defendants willfully and/or intentionally
violated the FLSA. Plaintiff is therefore entitled to liquidated damages in the amount of
$939.20.

104. From August 16, 2017, through August 20, 2017, Plaintiff worked a total of one
hundred twenty (120) hours, but was only compensated a total of $600.00 during this
workweek. Accordingly, Plaintiff was compensated at a rate of $5.00 per hour, including
for every hour worked over forty (40). During this time period, Plaintiff is owed $5.87 per

hour for every single hour of overtime work she performed. Plaintiff is owed $469.60 in
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unliquidated damages for this time period. Defendants willfully and/or intentionally
violated the FLSA. Plaintiff is therefore entitled to liquidated damages in the amount of
$939.20.

105. From August 24, 2017, through August 27, 2017, Plaintiff worked a total of ninety-
six (96) hours, but was only compensated a total of $480.00 during this workweek.
Accordingly, Plaintiff was compensated at a rate of $5.00 per hour, including for every
hour worked over forty (40). During this time period, Plaintiff is owed $5.87 per hour for
every single hour of overtime work she performed. Plaintiff is owed $328.72 in
unliquidated damages for this time period. Defendants willfully and/or intentionally
violated the FLSA. Plaintiff claims $657.44 in liquidated damages.

106. From August 31, 2017, through September 3, 2017, Plaintiff worked a total of
ninety-six (96) hours, but was only compensated a total of $480.00 during this workweek.
Accordingly, Plaintiff was compensated at a rate of $5.00 per hour, including for every
hour worked over forty (40). During this time period, Plaintiff is owed $5.87 per hour for
every single hour of overtime work she performed. Plaintiff is owed $328.72 in
unliquidated damages for this time period. Defendants willfully and/or intentionally
violated the FLSA. Plaintiff is therefore entitled to liquidated damages in the amount of
$657.44.

107. Plaintiff specifically advised Defendant, REYES, and Defendant, TRUE BLUE, of
the number of hours she was working on the weekends on multiple occasions.

108. Defendant, REYES, and Defendant, TRUE BLUE, were also on notice of the
number of hours worked by Plaintiff by virtue of the fact that REYES had assigned Plaintiff

to work those shifts.
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109. Defendants’ failure, through today’s date, to pay amounts owed pursuant to the Fair
Labor Standards Act, is willful and intentional. Defendants, REYES and TRUE BLUE
knew (or should have known) of the overtime requirements of the FLSA and either
intentionally avoided or recklessly failed to investigate proper payroll practices as they
relate to the law.

110. Accordingly, Plaintiff is entitled, and specifically requests, liquidated damages in
an amount equal to double the unpaid time and a half that is due and owing, in an amount
equaling $5,261.28.

111 The amount set forth above is to Plaintiff’s best current information, knowledge
and belief, and constitutes an estimate of amounts owed based upon documentation in
Plaintiff’s possession and her own personal recollection.

112. Plaintiff is further entitled to all reasonable attorney’s fees and litigation costs from
the Defendants, jointly and severally, pursuant to the FLSA as cited above, with all
amounts set forth hereinabove to be proven at trial, in a trial by jury, and for entry of
judgment for such other amounts as this Court deems just and equitable.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffi, RHONA NEMBHARD, respectfully requests that this
Honorable Court enter judgment in her favor and against Defendants, TRUE BLUE HOME
HEALTH CARE CORP. and KARELINA REYES, and award Plaintiff: (a) double unpaid
overtime wages as provided by the Fair Labor Standards Act to be paid by the Defendants, TRUE
BLUE HOME HEALTH CARE CORP. and KARELINA REYES, jointly and severally; (b) all
reasonable attorney’s fees and litigation costs as permitted under the FLSA; and any and all such

further relief as this Court may deem just and equitable under the circumstances.
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COUNT 111 —RETALIATORY DISCHARGE IN VIOLATION OF 29 U.S.C. § 215(a)(3)
(Against All Defendants)

113. Plaintiff re-avers and re-alleges Paragraphs 1 through 64 above, as though fully set
forth herein.

114. During all times material to Plaintiff’s employment, Defendants, TRUE BLUE, and
REYES, were Plaintiff’s employer as defined under the FLSA.

115. Defendants, TRUE BLUE, and REYES, failed to properly disclose or apprise
Plaintiff of her rights under the FLSA.

116. In August 2017, Plaintiff approached Defendant, REYES, and addressed the fact
that the hours she was working each week far exceeded the amount permitted under federal
law, and that Plaintiff was entitled to be properly paid overtime compensation.

117. Plaintiff’s assertion of her right to receive overtime payment was made in good-
faith and was sufficiently clear for Defendants to understand.

118. Defendant, REYES, expressly rejected Plaintiff’s proper request for overtime, and
advised Plaintiff that she had no such right and would not be paid any overtime whatsoever.

119. In response to Defendant, REYES’ refusal to pay Plaintiff any overtime
whatsoever, Plaintiff advised Defendant, REYES, that she specifically knew about the
overtime laws because she had closely followed the executive action taken by President
Obama regarding proposed changes to federal wage laws, which is how she had learned
about federal law requirements concerning the payment of overtime.

120. Notwithstanding Plaintiff’s correct position regarding the federal law overtime

requirements, Defendant, REYES, once again rejected Plaintiff’s request.
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121. Then, on September 14, 2017, Defendant, REYES, sent the following text message
to Plaintiff immediately after Plaintiff arrived at J.L.’s’ residence to work:

You don’t need to go to June’s today.

122. Following Plaintiff’s attempt to exercise her right to overtime compensation under
the FLSA, and upon Plaintiff’s receipt of this text message from Defendant, REYES,
Plaintiff was terminated and was never given another shift from Defendant, TRUE BLUE,
ever again.

123. A direct causal relationship exists between Plaintiff having informed Defendants of
her overtime claim and the abrupt termination of her services shortly thereafter.

124, Defendant, REYES, refused to provide Plaintiff with any explanation of her
decision to terminate Plaintiff.

125. Defendant, REYES, was the owner and President of Defendant, TRUE BLUE,
during all times pertinent to this lawsuit, and had final decision-making authority for
Defendant, TRUE BLUE, on issues of employment, termination, and payroll practices.

126. The motivating factor which caused Plaintiff’s unlawful discharge as described
above, was Plaintiff’s attempt to exercise her right to overtime compensation, and therefore
constitutes unlawful retaliatory discharge under 29 U.S.C. § 215(a)(3).

127. In the months following Plaintiff’s termination, Defendant, REYES, has repeatedly
sent text messages to Plaintiff’s cell phone cautioning Plaintiff to not pursue any legal
action.

128. These text messages further demonstrate Defendants’ bad faith, and specific intent
to deceive Plaintiff so that Defendants may continue to deprive Plaintiff of her hard-earned

wages.
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129. As a direct result of Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff has suffered emotional distress,
loss of future pay, and has been damaged in an amount to be proven at trial.
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, RHONA NEMBHARD, demands judgment be entered in her

favor and against Defendants, TRUE BLUE HOME HEALTH CARE CORP. and KARELINA
REYES, individually, for violation of 29 U.S.C. § 215(a)(3), and that she be awarded damages, as
follows: (a) compensation for all lost wages, benefits, and other remuneration, and an additional
equal amount as liquidated damages; (b) any other compensatory damages allowable at law; (c)
economic and non-economic damages, including but not limited to damages for emotional distress;
(d) pre- and post-judgment interest; (e) attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred in the litigation of
this action, plus court costs; and all such further relief as this court deems just and equitable under
the circumstances.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff, RHONA NEMBHARD, hereby requests and demands a trial by jury on all
appropriate claims.
Dated this 15™" day of January, 2018.
Respectfully Submitted,

Jordan Richards, PLLC

401 East Las Olas Blvd.

Suite 1400

Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301

Ph: (954) 871-0050

Counsel for Plaintiff, Rhona Nembhard

By: /s/ Jordan Richards
JORDAN RICHARDS, ESQUIRE
Florida Bar No. 108372
Jordan@jordanrichardslaw.com
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing document was filed via CM/ECF on this 15™ of
January, 2018.
By: /s/ Jordan Richards, Esquire

JORDAN RICHARDS, ESQ.
Florida Bar No. 108372

SERVICE LIST:
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of Florida

RHONA NEMBHARD, and all others similarly
situated under 29 U.S.C. 216(b),

Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No.

TRUE BLUE HOME HEALTH CARE CORP., and
KARELINA REYES, individually,

Defendant(s)

e N e e N W e

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)
TRUE BLUE HOME HEALTH CARE, CORP.
Attn: Karelina Reyes, President
600 SW 3rd Street, Suite 5100G
Pompano Beach, Florida 33060

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

Jordan Richards, Esq.
Jordan Richards, PLLC
401 East Broward Blvd.
Suite 1400
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301
If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (mame of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

(O I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

(3 I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(3 I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or
O I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or
(O Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

DT T
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of Florida

RHONA NEMBHARD, and all others similarly
situated under 29 U.S.C. 216(b),

Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No.

TRUE BLUE HOME HEALTH CARE CORP., and
KARELINA REYES, individually,

e N e e N W e

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)
KARELINA REYES
361 NW 35th Court
Oakland Park, Florida 33309

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

Jordan Richards, Esq.
Jordan Richards, PLLC
401 East Broward Blvd.
Suite 1400
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301
If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (mame of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

(O I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

(3 I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(3 I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or
O I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or
(O Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

DT T
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